

Strategies for Overcoming Barriers to the Implementation of Patient-Reported Outcomes Measures

An NIH Health Care Systems Research Collaboratory Patient Reported Outcomes Core White Paper

Tracie Locklear, PhD¹; Benjamin J. Miriovsky, MD²; James Henry Willig, MD³; Karen Staman, MS¹; Nrupen Bhavsar, PhD¹; Kevin Weinfurt, PhD⁴; Amy Abernethy, MD, PhD⁴

¹Duke Clinical Research Institute, Durham, North Carolina; ²Bend Memorial Clinic, Bend, Oregon; ³University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, Alabama; ⁴Duke University School of Medicine, Durham, North Carolina

This work is funded by the Office Of The Director, National Institutes Of Health and supported by the NIH Common Fund through a cooperative agreement (U54 AT007748) with the NIH Health Care Systems Research Collaboratory. The views presented here are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

Address for correspondence: Tracie Locklear, PhD NIH HCS Collaboratory/PRO Core, Project Leader 2400 Pratt St. North Pavilion Duke University Medical Center Durham, NC 27710 Office: (919) 681-2151 Email: tracie.locklear@dm.duke.edu

Table of Contents

Introduction	3
Clinician Barriers and Strategies	4
Define Goals and Expectations	4
Establish Standard Operating Procedures	5
Integrate Data Generated into Clinical Workflow	5
Define Clinical Triggers for Specific Interventions	7
Engage Senior Physician Champions	8
Patient Barriers and Strategies	8
Administrative Barriers and Strategies	9
Missing Data 1	0
Discussion1	0
References1	2



Health Care Systems Research Collaboratory

Introduction

As health systems shift toward clinical practice that is more patient-centered, the voice of the patient is increasingly heard through patient-reported outcomes (PROs) measures, which are defined as outcomes reported directly by patients without interpretation by clinicians.¹ PROs typically include information about health-related quality of life (HRQOL), symptoms, function, satisfaction with care or symptoms, adherence to prescribed medicine or therapy, and perceived value of treatment.^{2,3} The evidence in favor of self-reporting by patients is robust: PRO use increases patient satisfaction with care, patient-provider communication, overall quality of life; is considered valuable to clinicians; is well accepted and feasible; and improves symptom management and health quality.⁴⁻¹² PRO data have also been used to inform clinical decisions, such beginning supportive therapy, triaging for additional medical services, or evaluating a complaint, and to compare alternative treatment options, professionals, institutions, and changes in performance over time.⁴⁻⁷ The benefits and clinical utility of PRO measures have prompted supporters to call for routine PRO collection in clinical care, yet significant barriers to initiating and

implementing this still remain. Despite an ever-growing body of literature demonstrating an association between PRO utilization and an improvement in outcomes across a variety of disease states,¹³⁻¹⁸ along with evidence that PROs are valid outcomes (e.g., quality of life, pain, breathlessness, physical functioning),^{19,20-27} widespread physician acceptance has been lacking.

PATIENT REPORTED OUTCOMES (PROs): The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) defines PROs as: "outcomes reported directly by patients without interpretation by clinicians."¹

Major barriers to incorporating PRO data capture into clinical practice involve engaging clinicians amid concerns about overburdening the work staff or costs of hiring additional personnel to orchestrate PRO collection, analysis, and reporting.^{28,29} Many clinicians are unsure how to use and interpret patient-reported outcomes assessments and do not see the value-added for introducing such measures into an already hectic workflow.¹⁵ Other implementation barriers from the patient, clinician and administrative perspective include cost, burden, feasibility, usability, and benefit in a target population.^{28,30}

Practical strategies for overcoming these barriers are currently missing from the literature. In this manuscript, we examine barriers from clinician, patient, and administrative perspectives and provide real-world examples and strategies for overcoming these obstacles. In addition, members of the <u>PRO Core</u> of the <u>NIH Health Care Systems Research</u> <u>Collaboratory</u> will be conducting interviews with sites that routinely collect PRO data as part of a landscape summary. The Core will publish these summaries in the Living Textbook blog: <u>Rethinking Clinical Trials: A Living Textbook of Pragmatic Clinical Trials</u>. Upcoming posts include summaries from the University of Alabama at Birmingham, the University of Virginia, Duke University's Center for Learning Health Care (CLHC), and Dartmouth.



Health Care Systems Research Collaboratory

Clinician Barriers and Strategies

In most published examples of routine PRO collection, clinician barriers to using PROs include: a) the concern that the PRO instrument will uncover issues that clinicians feel incapable of handling, or that they will become liable for if inadequately addressed;^{31,32} b) that the collection and utilization of PROs will disturb work flows and decrease efficiency;³²⁻³⁵ c) that the benefit to patient care will be only theoretical and unsubstantiated;^{31,32,35,36} and d) that managing responses will be just another responsibility for already overburdened clinicians.³⁴ On a more basic level, some clinicians may be hesitant to incorporate PROs into routine care because they are unsure how to make use of the data and might require support (personnel or information technology) to help navigate the information provided by the patient. Currently, one of the biggest barriers to PRO implementation is reluctance to change.

FIVE PRACTICAL APPROACHES: We present five practical approaches to help overcome the hesitations of caregivers and realize the potential of PROs: a) collaborate to define the goals and expectations for PRO endeavors up front, b) establish standard operating procedures around the collection of PROs, c) integrate the data generated from PROs into the clinical workflow, d) define clinical triggers and specific interventions that will improve outcomes, and e) engage senior physician champions.

Define Goals and Expectations

Clearly defining the goals and expectations surrounding the collection and use of ePROs, with input from all representative stakeholders is crucial to buy-in and will help alleviate concerns about potential issues raised by PROs.^{6,30,37} By collaborating with stakeholders to define the purposes for collecting PROs, the needs of end-users can be met, and misperceptions can be avoided. Collaboration between patients, nurses, clinicians and researchers sets the foundation for the rest of the project and can help shape the perception of the PRO data.³⁰ This type of collaboration was employed by the developers of PatientViewpoint,³⁸ who conducted literature reviews and solicited suggestions from experts from various disciplines, such as cancer outcomes research, palliative care, clergy, and patient advocacy. A panel of experts vetted initial recommendations. The final guidelines incorporated several perspectives that offered clinicians a myriad of choices for addressing issues brought to light by PROs ranging from treatment modification to life-style changes.³⁸ The end result is clinicians can click on the "What can I do? " link to review suggestions.



Health Care Systems Research Collaboratory

Establish Standard Operating Procedures

Another core principle for successful PRO data collection is striking the right balance between standardization of procedures and providing flexibility where needed. Generating standard operating procedures that delineate how patients, researchers, and clinicians implement data collection systems ensures that consistency of approach, professionalism, privacy and security standards are met, that survey data is consistently handled, and that the new approach becomes the norm.³⁰ Part of establishing standard operating procedures includes training that is tailored to specific team members (e.g., front-end staff and physicians interact with the system differently and training should reflect this). This standardization must be balanced with the need for flexibility in integrating the collection procedures into the clinical workflow, so as to avoid confusion and limit burden on clinical and staff team members. Further, the standard operating procedures cannot be so rigid as to preclude adjustments and iterative improvements driven by feedback from end-users.

Integrate Data Generated into Clinical Workflow

Integrating PRO data into clinical workflow depends on the clinical scenario. For clinicians and their patients, introducing a new process into the clinical workflow is often resisted, and in the case of PROs, this is exacerbated by the fact that not all providers use PROs similarly, so the perceived value varies. In order for routine ePRO collection to be embraced, a cultural change is often necessary. Effecting this change is best done by demonstrating the value of the PRO to all the relevant stakeholders.

Embedding PRO collection into routine care dilutes many of the concerns surrounding respondent burden. If PRO data are viewed as integral to the patient care process and completing the instrument yields tangible benefits to patients, completing PROs will not be viewed as burdensome, but as part of the culture of clinical care. An example of a tangible benefit is a summary document of PRO data that the clinician can use to promote discussion with the patient, like the example report shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Sample report from the Patient Care Monitor generated after the patient has submitted responses. The report summarizes all responses, and highlights, via colors, areas of higher scores, as well as trends in scores over time, using colored arrows to the left of categories.



The developers of the Integrating Mental and Physical Healthcare: Research, Training and Services (IMPARTS) web-based systems provide clinicians guidance on how to address issues identified by PRO questionnaires.³⁹ The IMPARTS informatics team worked with physical healthcare providers to develop a referral algorithm to provide clinicians advice on care and referral for patients who screen positive for a mental health issue.³⁹ The referral algorithm was tailored to the specific clinical setting and relied on data captured in the informatics system (e.g., type and rate of mental disorder) to determine the referral pathway.

Data analysis and automatic reporting in real-time is feasible with electronic PRO measurement systems. Many software programs exist that allow access to graphs of patient self-reports from the electronic health record (EHR) in real-time or enable a printed report that can be added to the patient's chart or given to the clinician or the patient. Domains with scores that represent potential problem areas are highlighted or presented in an easy-to read summary format (See Figure 1 an example). The summary report can be used to promote discussion, trigger interventions, and to compare changes over time, improving



patient-provider communication without extending clinic visits. For example, researchers at the University of Washington found that when clinicians were provided with patient selfreports, they were 29% more likely to discuss threshold symptom and quality of life events than with patients in the control group where no report was provided.⁹ Significantly, there was no significant increase in the length of clinic visits.⁹ Examples of existing software programs and platforms include The Knowledge Program,⁴⁰ Patient ViewPoint,⁴¹ the IMPARTS platform,³⁹ the Patient Assessment Care and Education (PACE) e/Tablet system,¹¹ and the electronic self-report assessment-Cancer (ESRA-C) tool.⁴² Most systems offer a flexible user interface where a menu of validated PROs are available to clinicians. There are a number of national, validated PRO instruments that can be used on some of these platforms, such as The Patient-Reported Outcome Measurement Information System (PROMIS®),⁴³ which provides adult- and child-reported measures of health and well-being across a wide range of conditions and diseases, the National Institutes of Health (NIH) Toolbox for the assessment of neurological and behavioral function,⁴⁴ and Neuro-QOL,⁴⁵ a set of PRO measures that assesses the quality of life of adults and children with neurological disorders such as stroke, multiple sclerosis, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, Parkinson disease, epilepsy, and muscular dystrophy.

Define Clinical Triggers for Specific Interventions

Specific items that change dramatically over the trajectory of a disease or exceed some threshold can be highlighted on a report for the physician who would then offer referrals, treatments, support group contacts, patient education, counseling, etc. depending on the domain that troubles the patient.^{29,38,46,47} To prevent clinicians from being overwhelmed and to demonstrate value of the system, it is important to define clinical triggers and interventions that can be automated within the systems, offloading duties traditionally required of clinicians. For example, at the University of Alabama, a high distress score may prompt a visit by the psychosocial care team.⁴⁸ The interventions may also include patient education—whether provided by the electronic collection tool (e.g., tablet computer) or the nursing staff. In addition to helping the clinical team, these triggers benefit patients and mitigate legal concerns from PROs being overlooked or unaddressed.

The alert capabilities of software platforms can send an email or pager notification to clinic staff for follow-up. For example, post-operative symptom severity was significantly reduced in cancer patients when clinicians were sent email alerts regarding patient's symptoms.⁸ The monitoring feature tracked changes in patient's self-reports over time and flagged significant changes based on a pre-determined threshold, allowing the clinician to intervene when needed.

Another example is the mobile phone-based advanced symptom monitoring system (ASyMS) developed in the United Kingdom. The ASyMS monitors treatment-related symptoms in cancer patients receiving chemotherapy.^{49,50} With the ASyMS service, patients complete a symptom assessment on their phones twice a day and anytime they feel unwell. Data are sent to the study server and reports of severe symptoms are immediately sent to clinicians.



Engage Senior Physician Champions

Physician champions who value the data and insist on its presence and completeness are often the missing link in the incorporation of PROs into clinical practice. Physician champions understand that including the patient perspective helps clinicians get a more complete picture of a patient's health, which ultimately leads to improved patient care. Physician leaders can provide not only evidence of PRO utility, but also implementation methods, such as demonstrating ease of use, patient satisfaction scores, and key opinion leader input.

Patient Barriers and Strategies

From a patient's point of view, the primary barrier is the perception of burden.^{30,32,41} The definition of *burden* varies by clinical context, but in general, the instrument should not be too long, it should be easy for the intended population to use, and it should have a clinical impact. If PRO reports automatically trigger events that mitigate the problem (e.g. communication with the doctor, patient education, triage to the emergency department), then the perception of burden is mitigated, and patients are more accepting of the time and effort required to answer questions.

Limiting the number of questions that a patient needs to answer will reduce the time it takes to complete the PRO measure and the burden on the patient. When researchers in a recent trial used too many PRO instruments in an effort to get a thorough understanding of the effectiveness of a drug, the patients found the questionnaires exhausting and overwhelming and indicated that the PRO measures were the leading cause for dissatisfaction with the trial.⁵¹ The recommended amount of time for a given PRO is 10–15 minutes.⁵² Many instruments, such as PROMIS, use a computerized adaptive test (CAT), in which subsequent questions are based on answers to preliminary questions. For example, if a clinician wants to know about physical ability, the patient will be given a question with a range of skills, from "Are you able to get out of bed unassisted?" to "Are you able to run five kilometers?" The next question will be geared toward the range of physical ability indicated in the first question. Short (4-5 item) measures given with CAT have been shown to be as effective as longer measures.⁵³

Several studies have demonstrated patient preference for electronic administration of PROs, even among patients with low computer literacy.^{54,55} Patient preference for electronic forms may be due to convenience and a sense of confidentiality,^{56–58} and patients using tablets have been shown to be more likely to answer highly personal questions than on paper forms.⁵⁸ Some strategies for making the interface user friendly include asking only one question per screen, increasing the font size, adapting language for patients, limiting pop-up windows, and automatic advancement to the next screen.^{55,56,58} As an example of adjusting the language, in the patient version of a PRO for patients undergoing chemotherapy, a grade 4 toxicity description was changed from "life-threatening" in the source description to "disabling" in the patient language adaptation.⁵⁵



There is also a pervasive belief that ill patients struggle to complete PRO surveys; this belief frequently proliferates in a clinical environment without input from patients and caregivers regarding what might be reasonable. As a case in point, research has shown it feasible to collect (e)PRO data in palliative settings,³⁹⁻⁴² though physicians, and the paternalistic perception that patients are "too ill" to participate, may hinder such efforts more than patients themselves.^{61,62}

Additionally, patients have concerns that clinicians will not review the survey results so the patients will have wasted time in responding, that responses may not be secure, and that they will not have access to their own responses.^{32,34} However, an evolving literature suggests willingness for patients to share their data consistently with little attrition.^{63,64} When PRO collection is aligned with clinical care and the uses of the information are transparent (i.e., triage, quality monitoring, triggering interventions and education, and research), then patients can engage in their own health care while informing and improving it. For example, the PatientViewpoint system provides patients with access to their data online. Once logged in, patients are able to see their scores over time represented graphically with accompanying explanations.⁴¹ Other systems, such as the ASyMS system and IMPART, send patients self-care advice tailored to their responses.^{39,49,50}

One of the most important ways to ensure that the patient does not find the instrument too burdensome is to engage them in the process. Before selecting an instrument, ask patients about the information that is meaningful to them. Engage them in the implementation process and ask for input at each stage of the process.

Administrative Barriers and Strategies

There are a number of important considerations from an administrative standpoint, and first are resource-related concerns. What capital investment is needed to initiate the project? What are the ongoing needs for data warehousing and management? What are the workflow implications? Privacy and security are also of concern. Who, beyond those directly involved in the patient's care, will have access to the data? How will that access be controlled and protected? Finally, there are legal considerations: Who is responsible for responding to "critical" PROs (e.g., suicidality, new-onset chest pain)? What happens if these "critical" issues are not addressed in a timely manner?

Even if the PRO data uncover unexpected results, this information can lead to improvements in care. For example, the ePRO system used at Duke uncovered a high prevalence of sexual distress among oncology patients, independent of cancer type.^{58,65} Because questions about sexual distress are routinely asked only in specific settings, such as among prostate cancer patients after prostatectomy or radiation, the prevalence was underestimated. The new insights led to the identification of the problem and the design of a clinical trial at Duke to better understand how to address sexual distress, hopefully improving the quality of life of cancer patients.



Addressing issues of data security, access to data, and patient confidentiality are a high priority as next generation technology integrates mobile apps designed specifically for clinicians that rely on cloud-based storage. While technological advances will make delivering healthcare more efficacious, efficient and cost-effective, care must be taken to ensure patient privacy. Data security concerns have been addressed by encrypting data on tablet computers before transmission to the cloud server and subsequent decrypting by the research institution,⁶⁶ and by ensuring that patient-identifiable information is stored behind firewalls and all data flows are encrypted.⁵⁶

PRO data is most useful to clinicians when linked to and analyzed with individual patient diagnostic and treatment information from their EHR. Many informatics systems have the capacity to link PRO reports to the EHR,^{11,67} and some can link from the EHR to a data warehouse for subsequent research⁴⁰ wherein PRO data can inform comparative effectiveness research (CER), improve post-market surveillance, and compliment quality improvement initiatives.^{68,69} Electronic systems have also been developed to regularly capture PRO data for linking and storing within registries and data networks.^{56,57,70}

Missing Data

If the PRO data are to be used for research, missing data can be an important issue because it effects the quality of the data and the subsequent statistical analysis. Sometimes issues with missing data can be addressed by small changes in clinic workflow, such as asking patients to come in 15 minutes early for an appointment. Where this is not feasible, electronic systems with reminder alerts can prompt patients and staff to complete due assessments. Several institutions have employed this method to improve patient self-reporting. Memorial Sloan-Kettering's Symptom Tracking and Reporting (STAR) system automatically sends reminder emails two weeks before a patient's scheduled appointment and again to patients who have missed scheduled surveys.⁶⁷ The system also notifies clinical staff to call and follow up with patients. A key patient adherence to self-reporting has been to remind patients that their responses go directly to their clinical record so their doctors can see how they are doing.⁶⁷

Many other programs use a reminder function to either send an email or a letter directly to the patient or to a nurse who follows up with a call, including the Knowledge Program (KP),⁴⁰ PatientViewpoint,^{41,71} the Patient Reported Outcomes Following Initial treatment and Long term Evaluation of Survivorship registry (PROFILE),^{57,72} and the Electronic Patient-reported Outcomes from Cancer Survivors (ePOCS) system.⁵⁶

Discussion

Clinicians need to recognize that PROs represent important predictors of the patient experience; for many patients, quality of life, pain, and symptom burden drive decisionmaking. PROs can help clinicians systematically measure critical patient attributes, and they can be leveraged to streamline and focus the care being delivered. Researchers who are helping to develop the elements of these systems must keep in mind that the instruments should be clinically feasible and relevant, fit into clinic workflows, and improve care for



patients. These factors need not compromise the quality of data collected, so long as researchers and instrument developers are mindful of the requirements for learning health systems. We cannot sacrifice the utility and potential of PRO instruments due to an over-reliance on issues such as comprehensiveness.

Longitudinal collection of ePRO data has the capacity to transform clinical practice improving efficiency and streamlining care, enhancing patient education, and supporting clinical decision-making. It can also serve as an important pillar for research within learning health care models, as the patient experience is critical to truly developing the ideal care model. The ultimate key to overcoming barriers to PRO collection is to collaborate with all the relevant stakeholders and make the data collected be relevant to the patient, the clinician and the researcher.



References

- 1. Speight J, Barendse SM. FDA guidance on patient reported outcomes. BMJ 2010;340:c2921. PMID: 20566597.
- 2. Calvert M, Blazeby J, Altman DG, et al. Reporting of patient-reported outcomes in randomized trials: the CONSORT PRO extension. JAMA 2013;309:814–822. <u>PMID:</u> 23443445. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.879.
- 3. Abernethy AP, Ahmad A, Zafar SY, et al. Electronic patient-reported data capture as a foundation of rapid learning cancer care. Med Care 2010;48:S32–38. <u>PMID: 20473201</u>. doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e3181db53a4.
- National Quality Forum. NQF: Patient-Reported Outcomes in Performance Measurement. 2012. Available at: http://www.qualityforum.org/Publications/2012/12/Patient-Reported_Outcomes_in_Performance_Measurement.aspx. Accessed June 17, 2014.
- 5. Basch E, Abernethy AP, Mullins CD, et al. Recommendations for incorporating patientreported outcomes into clinical comparative effectiveness research in adult oncology. J Clin Oncol 2012;30:4249–4255. <u>PMID: 23071244</u>. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.42.5967.
- Bennett AV, Jensen RE, Basch E. Electronic patient-reported outcome systems in oncology clinical practice. CA Cancer J Clin 2012;62:337–347. <u>PMID: 22811342</u>. doi: 10.3322/caac.21150.
- 7. Smith PC, Street AD. On the uses of routine patient-reported health outcome data. Health Econ 2013;22:119–131. <u>PMID: 22238023</u>. doi: 10.1002/hec.2793.
- Cleeland CS, Wang XS, Shi Q, et al. Automated symptom alerts reduce postoperative symptom severity after cancer surgery: a randomized controlled clinical trial. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:994–1000. <u>PMID: 21282546</u>. PMCID: PMC3068055. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.29.8315.
- Berry DL, Blumenstein BA, Halpenny B, et al. Enhancing patient-provider communication with the electronic self-report assessment for cancer: a randomized trial. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:1029–1035. <u>PMID: 21282548</u> PMCID: PMC3068053. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.30.3909.
- 10. Velikova G, Booth L, Smith AB, et al. Measuring quality of life in routine oncology practice improves communication and patient well-being: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol 2004;22:714–724. <u>PMID: 14966096</u>. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2004.06.078.



- Abernethy AP, Herndon JE 2nd, Wheeler JL, et al. Feasibility and acceptability to patients of a longitudinal system for evaluating cancer-related symptoms and quality of life: pilot study of an e/Tablet data-collection system in academic oncology. J Pain Symptom Manage 2009;37:1027–1038. <u>PMID: 19394793</u>. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2008.07.011.
- 12. Basch E, Iasonos A, Barz A, et al. Long-term toxicity monitoring via electronic patientreported outcomes in patients receiving chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol 2007;25:5374– 5380. <u>PMID: 18048818</u>. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.11.2243.
- 13. Black N, Jenkinson C. Measuring patients' experiences and outcomes. BMJ 2009;339:b2495. <u>PMID: 19574317</u>.
- 14. Dawson J, Doll H, Fitzpatrick R, et al. The routine use of patient reported outcome measures in healthcare settings. BMJ 2010;340:c186. <u>PMID: 20083546</u>.
- 15. Rose M, Bezjak A. Logistics of collecting patient-reported outcomes (PROs) in clinical practice: an overview and practical examples. Qual Life Res 2009;18:125–136. <u>PMID:</u> <u>19152119</u>. doi: 10.1007/s11136-008-9436-0.
- 16. Greenhalgh J. The applications of PROs in clinical practice: what are they, do they work, and why? Qual Life Res 2009;18:115–123. <u>PMID: 19105048</u>. doi: 10.1007/s11136-008-9430-6.
- 17. Basch E, Abernethy AP, Mullins CD, et al. Recommendations for incorporating patientreported outcomes into clinical comparative effectiveness research in adult oncology. J Clin Oncol 2012;30:4249–4255. <u>PMID: 23071244</u>. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.42.5967.
- Marshall S, Haywood K, Fitzpatrick R. Impact of patient-reported outcome measures on routine practice: a structured review. J Eval Clin Pract 2006;12:559–568. <u>PMID:</u> <u>16987118</u>. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2753.2006.00650.x.
- 19. Molnar-Varga M, Molnar MZ, Szeifert L, et al. Health-related quality of life and clinical outcomes in kidney transplant recipients. Am J Kidney Dis 2011;58:444–452. <u>PMID:</u> 21658828. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2011.03.028.
- 20. Abernethy AP, McDonald CF, Frith PA, et al. Effect of palliative oxygen versus room air in relief of breathlessness in patients with refractory dyspnoea: a double-blind, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2010;376:784–793. <u>PMID: 20816546</u> PMCID: PMC2962424. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61115-4.
- Castellano D, del Muro XG, Pérez-Gracia JL, et al. Patient-reported outcomes in a phase III, randomized study of sunitinib versus interferon-{alpha} as first-line systemic therapy for patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma in a European population. Ann Oncol 2009;20:1803–1812. <u>PMID: 19549706</u> PMCID: PMC2768734. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdp067.



- 22. Deshpande AD, Sefko JA, Jeffe DB, et al. The association between chronic disease burden and quality of life among breast cancer survivors in Missouri. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2011;129:877–886. <u>PMID: 21519836</u> PMCID: PMC3250926. doi: 10.1007/s10549-011-1525-z.
- 23. Lipscomb J, Gotay CC, Snyder. Outcomes Assessment in Cancer: Measures, Methods and Applications. Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press; 2011.
- 24. Pronzato P, Cortesi E, van der Rijt CC, et al. Epoetin alfa improves anemia and anemiarelated, patient-reported outcomes in patients with breast cancer receiving myelotoxic chemotherapy: results of a European, multicenter, randomized, controlled trial. Oncologist 2010;15:935–943. <u>PMID: 20798194</u> PMCID: PMC3228044. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2009-0279.
- Rolfson O, Kärrholm J, Dahlberg LE, et al. Patient-reported outcomes in the Swedish Hip Arthroplasty Register: results of a nationwide prospective observational study. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2011;93:867–875. <u>PMID: 21705555</u>. doi: 10.1302/0301-620X.93B7.25737.
- 26. Sprangers MAG. Disregarding clinical trial-based patient-reported outcomes is unwarranted: Five advances to substantiate the scientific stringency of quality-of-life measurement. Acta Oncol 2010;49:155–163. <u>PMID: 20059312</u>. doi: 10.3109/02841860903440288.
- Thornburg CD, Calatroni A, Panepinto JA. Differences in health-related quality of life in children with sickle cell disease receiving hydroxyurea. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2011;33:251–254. <u>PMID: 21516020</u> PMCID: PMC3729442. doi: 10.1097/MPH.0b013e3182114c54.
- Antunes B, Harding R, Higginson IJ, et al. Implementing patient-reported outcome measures in palliative care clinical practice: a systematic review of facilitators and barriers. Palliat Med 2014;28:158–175. <u>PMID: 23801463</u>. doi: 10.1177/0269216313491619.
- 29. Basch E, Abernethy AP. Supporting clinical practice decisions with real-time patientreported outcomes. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:954–956. <u>PMID: 21282536</u>. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.33.2668.
- 30. Miriovsky B, Abernethy AP. Measurement of Quality of Life Outcomes. In: Berger A, Shuster J, Van Roenn J, eds.*Principles and Practice of Palliative Oncology and Supportive Oncology*. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2013.
- 31. Dudgeon D, King S, Howell D, et al. Cancer Care Ontario's experience with implementation of routine physical and psychological symptom distress screening. Psychooncology 2012;21:357–364. <u>PMID: 21308858</u>. doi: 10.1002/pon.1918.



- 32. Donaldson MS. Taking stock of health-related quality-of-life measurement in oncology practice in the United States. J Natl Cancer Inst Monographs 2004;:155–167. <u>PMID:</u> <u>15504926</u>. doi: 10.1093/jncimonographs/lgh017.
- 33. Bainbridge D, Seow H, Sussman J, et al. Multidisciplinary health care professionals' perceptions of the use and utility of a symptom assessment system for oncology patients. J Oncol Pract 2011;7:19–23. <u>PMID: 21532805</u> PMCID: PMC3014504. doi: 10.1200/JOP.2010.000015.
- 34. Abernethy AP, Herndon JE 2nd, Wheeler JL, et al. Feasibility and acceptability to patients of a longitudinal system for evaluating cancer-related symptoms and quality of life: pilot study of an e/Tablet data-collection system in academic oncology. J Pain Symptom Manage 2009;37:1027–1038. <u>PMID: 19394793</u>. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2008.07.011.
- 35. Lohr KN, Zebrack BJ. Using patient-reported outcomes in clinical practice: challenges and opportunities. Qual Life Res 2009;18:99–107. <u>PMID: 19034690</u>. doi: 10.1007/s11136-008-9413-7.
- 36. Greenhalgh J, Meadows K. The effectiveness of the use of patient-based measures of health in routine practice in improving the process and outcomes of patient care: a literature review. J Eval Clin Pract 1999;5:401–416. <u>PMID: 10579704</u>.
- 37. Snyder CF, Aaronson NK, Choucair AK, et al. Implementing patient-reported outcomes assessment in clinical practice: a review of the options and considerations. Qual Life Res 2012;21:1305–1314. <u>PMID: 22048932</u>. doi: 10.1007/s11136-011-0054-x.
- Hughes EF, Wu AW, Carducci MA, et al. What can I do? Recommendations for responding to issues identified by patient-reported outcomes assessments used in clinical practice. J Support Oncol 2012;10:143–148. <u>PMID: 22609239</u> PMCID: PMC3384764. doi: 10.1016/j.suponc.2012.02.002.
- IMPARTS-Package.pdf. Available at: http://www.kcl.ac.uk/iop/depts/pm/research/imparts/Quick-links/IMPARTS-Package.pdf. Accessed June 18, 2014.
- 40. Katzan I, Speck M, Dopler C, et al. The Knowledge Program: an innovative, comprehensive electronic data capture system and warehouse. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2011;2011:683–692. <u>PMID: 22195124</u> PMCID: PMC3243190.
- 41. Snyder CF, Jensen R, Courtin SO, et al. PatientViewpoint: a website for patient-reported outcomes assessment. Qual Life Res 2009;18:793–800. <u>PMID: 19544089</u> PMCID: PMC3073983. doi: 10.1007/s11136-009-9497-8.
- 42. Berry DL, Blumenstein BA, Halpenny B, et al. Enhancing patient-provider communication with the electronic self-report assessment for cancer: a randomized



trial. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:1029–1035. <u>PMID: 21282548</u> PMCID: PMC3068053. doi: 10.1200/JC0.2010.30.3909.

- 43. Cella D, Riley W, Stone A, et al. The Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) developed and tested its first wave of adult self-reported health outcome item banks: 2005-2008. J Clin Epidemiol 2010;63:1179–1194. <u>PMID:</u> <u>20685078</u>. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.04.011.
- 44. Gershon RC, Wagster MV, Hendrie HC, et al. NIH toolbox for assessment of neurological and behavioral function. Neurology 2013;80:S2–6. <u>PMID: 23479538</u>. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182872e5f.
- 45. Cella D, Lai J-S, Nowinski CJ, et al. Neuro-QOL: brief measures of health-related quality of life for clinical research in neurology. Neurology 2012;78:1860–1867. <u>PMID:</u> 22573626. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e318258f744.
- 46. Rosenbloom SK, Victorson DE, Hahn EA, et al. Assessment is not enough: a randomized controlled trial of the effects of HRQL assessment on quality of life and satisfaction in oncology clinical practice. Psychooncology 2007;16:1069–1079. <u>PMID: 17342789</u>. doi: 10.1002/pon.1184.
- 47. Rubenstein LV, McCoy JM, Cope DW, et al. Improving patient quality of life with feedback to physicians about functional status. J Gen Intern Med 1995;10:607–614. <u>PMID: 8583263</u>.
- 48. Lawrence ST, Willig JH, Crane HM, et al. Routine, self-administered, touch-screen, computer-based suicidal ideation assessment linked to automated response team notification in an HIV primary care setting. Clin Infect Dis 2010;50:1165–1173. <u>PMID:</u> 20210646 PMCID: PMC2841210. doi: 10.1086/651420.
- 49. Maguire R, McCann L, Miller M, et al. Nurse's perceptions and experiences of using of a mobile-phone-based Advanced Symptom Management System (ASyMS) to monitor and manage chemotherapy-related toxicity. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2008;12:380–386. <u>PMID:</u> <u>18539527</u>. doi: 10.1016/j.ejon.2008.04.007.
- 50. McCann L, Maguire R, Miller M, et al. Patients' perceptions and experiences of using a mobile phone-based advanced symptom management system (ASyMS) to monitor and manage chemotherapy related toxicity. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2009;18:156–164. <u>PMID: 19267731</u>. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2354.2008.00938.x.
- 51. Ivsin P. WHICH PATIENTS ARE WE CENTERED ON? | Patient-Centered Clinical Trials 2014 | eyeforpharma Conferences. Patient-Centered Clinical Trials. Available at: http://www.eyeforpharma.com/patient-clinical-trials/which-patients-are-we-centered-on.php. Accessed July 28, 2014.



- 52. Basch E, Torda P, Adams K. Standards for patient-reported outcome-based performance measures. JAMA 2013;310:139–140. <u>PMID: 23839744.</u> doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.6855.
- 53. Lai J, Cella D, Chang C-H, et al. Item banking to improve, shorten and computerize selfreported fatigue: an illustration of steps to create a core item bank from the FACIT-Fatigue Scale. Qual Life Res 2003;12:485–501. <u>PMID: 13677494</u>.
- 54. Mullen KH, Berry DL, Zierler BK. Computerized symptom and quality-of-life assessment for patients with cancer part II: acceptability and usability. Oncol Nurs Forum 2004;31:E84–89. <u>PMID: 15378105</u>. doi: 10.1188/04.ONF.E84-E89.
- 55. Basch E, Artz D, Dulko D, et al. Patient online self-reporting of toxicity symptoms during chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol 2005;23:3552–3561. <u>PMID: 15908666</u>. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2005.04.275.
- 56. Ashley L, Jones H, Thomas J, et al. Integrating cancer survivors' experiences into UK cancer registries: design and development of the ePOCS system (electronic Patient-reported Outcomes from Cancer Survivors). Br J Cancer 2011;105 Suppl 1:S74–81. <u>PMID: 22048035</u> PMCID: PMC3251955. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2011.424.
- 57. Van de Poll-Franse LV, Horevoorts N, van Eenbergen M, et al. The Patient Reported Outcomes Following Initial treatment and Long term Evaluation of Survivorship registry: scope, rationale and design of an infrastructure for the study of physical and psychosocial outcomes in cancer survivorship cohorts. Eur J Cancer 2011;47:2188– 2194. <u>PMID: 21621408</u>. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2011.04.034.
- Dupont A, Wheeler J, Herndon JE 2nd, et al. Use of tablet personal computers for sensitive patient-reported information. J Support Oncol 2009;7:91–97. <u>PMID:</u> <u>19507456</u>.
- 59. Coons SJ, Kothari S, Monz BU, et al. The patient-reported outcome (PRO) consortium: filling measurement gaps for PRO end points to support labeling claims. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2011;90:743–748. <u>PMID: 21993428</u>. doi: 10.1038/clpt.2011.203.
- 60. Kryworuchko J, Stacey D, Bennett C, et al. Appraisal of primary outcome measures used in trials of patient decision support. Patient Educ Couns 2008;73:497–503. <u>PMID:</u> <u>18701235.</u> doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2008.07.011.
- 61. Callaly T, Hyland M, Coombs T, et al. Routine outcome measurement in public mental health: results of a clinician survey. Aust Health Rev 2006;30:164–173. <u>PMID:</u> <u>16646765</u>.
- 62. Cox A, Illsley M, Knibb W, et al. The acceptability of e-technology to monitor and assess patient symptoms following palliative radiotherapy for lung cancer. Palliat Med 2011;25:675–681. <u>PMID: 21474620</u>. doi: 10.1177/0269216311399489.



- 63. Basch E, Iasonos A, Barz A, et al. Long-term toxicity monitoring via electronic patientreported outcomes in patients receiving chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol 2007;25:5374– 5380. <u>PMID: 18048818</u>. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.11.2243.
- 64. Wood WA, Deal AM, Abernethy A, et al. Feasibility of frequent patient-reported outcome surveillance in patients undergoing hematopoietic cell transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2013;19:450–459. <u>PMID: 23253558</u>. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2012.11.014.
- 65. Reese JB, Shelby RA, Keefe FJ, et al. Sexual concerns in cancer patients: a comparison of GI and breast cancer patients. Support Care Cancer 2010;18:1179–1189. <u>PMID:</u> <u>19777269</u> PMCID: PMC3725548. doi: 10.1007/s00520-009-0738-8.
- 66. Wilcox AB, Gallagher KD, Boden-Albala B, et al. Research data collection methods: from paper to tablet computers. Med Care 2012;50 Suppl:S68–73. <u>PMID: 22692261</u>. doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e318259c1e7.
- Judson TJ, Bennett AV, Rogak LJ, et al. Feasibility of long-term patient self-reporting of toxicities from home via the Internet during routine chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol 2013;31:2580–2585. <u>PMID: 23733753</u> PMCID: PMC3699724. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.47.6804.
- 68. Basch E. The missing voice of patients in drug-safety reporting. N Engl J Med 2010;362:865–869. PMID: 20220181 PMCID: PMC3031980. doi: 10.1056/NEJMp0911494.
- 69. Abernethy AP, Herndon JE 2nd, Wheeler JL, et al. Improving health care efficiency and quality using tablet personal computers to collect research-quality, patient-reported data. Health Serv Res 2008;43:1975–1991. <u>PMID: 18761678</u> PMCID: PMC2613994. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6773.2008.00887.x.
- 70. Libby AM, Pace W, Bryan C, et al. Comparative effectiveness research in DARTNet primary care practices: point of care data collection on hypoglycemia and over-the-counter and herbal use among patients diagnosed with diabetes. Med Care 2010;48:S39–44. <u>PMID: 20473193</u>. doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e3181ddc7b0.
- Snyder CF, Blackford AL, Wolff AC, et al. Feasibility and value of PatientViewpoint: a web system for patient-reported outcomes assessment in clinical practice. Psychooncology 2013;22:895–901. <u>PMID: 22544513</u> PMCID: PMC3415606. doi: 10.1002/pon.3087.
- 72. Mols F, Thong MSY, Vissers P, et al. Socio-economic implications of cancer survivorship: results from the PROFILES registry. Eur J Cancer 2012;48:2037–2042. <u>PMID:</u> <u>22196035</u>. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2011.11.030.

